IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

In Re the Matter of:

TAMRA ANDERSON Respondent

v.

MATTHEW ANDERSON Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Cameron J. Fleury, WSBA #23422 Attorney for Appellant Matthew Anderson 1102 Broadway, Suite 500 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 627-1181

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court erred by hearing the motion for adjustment per RCW
 26.09.170(7)(a) when it had not been 24 months from the entry of the order or last adjustment or modification, whichever is later.
- 2. The trial court erred when it found the date to begin calculating the running of the 24 months before a motion for adjustment is allowed per RCW 26.09.170(7)(a) was the date of the arbitrator's decision and not the date of the entry of the Order of Support.
- The trial court erred when it did not dismiss the motion for adjustment upon counsel's objection.
- 4. The trial court erred when it terminated the father's deviation for residential time with the children under a motion for adjustment.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Does a parent have a right to make a motion for adjustment of support when 24 months has not passed since entry of the order sought to be modified?
- 2. Does an arbitrator's decision count as the date entry of an order?
- 3. Does the court have the ability to terminate a deviation under a motion for adjustment?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Matthew Anderson and Tamra Anderson were married in 2002 and have two children of this marriage, namely Reagan A. Anderson, DOB: 12/2004 and

Peyton A. Anderson, DOB: 04/2007. A petition for dissolution was filed by the husband on August 14, 2008. Thereafter, the parties entered into an agreement to have their dissolution determined by binding arbitration with arbitrator Lawrence Besk. An arbitration occurred with Mr. Lawrence Besk, where parties and counsel entered a CR2(a) agreement on January 30, 2009 (the document was misdated as 2008, but there is no dispute it was 2009). The parties subsequently were divorced 16 months later, (it is unclear why there was such a long delay), on September 10, 2010. At that time the Court entered a Decree of Dissolution, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, a Parenting Plan and an Order of Support. These documents embodied the terms of the CR2(a) agreement entered into by the parties.

On September 28, 2011, only twelve months after the Order of Support sought to be modified was entered, the respondent mother filed a motion for adjustment of child support. The pattern form for a motion for adjustment states, in paragraph 2.3, which was the basis for the respondent's motion to allow support to be adjusted, "[i]t is more than 24 months since the order was entered or since the last incremental change went into effect, whichever is later, and there have been changes in the economic table or standards in RCW 26.19 as follows:". Curiously, the motion filed by the respondent changed the pattern language to state: "[i]t is more than 24 months since the order was entered by arbitration dated May 17, 2009 or since the last incremental change went into effect, whichever is later, and there have been changes in the economic table or standards in RCW 26.19 as follows:" Emphasis added. (The economic Table is in RCW 26.09.020 and was changed effective October 01, 2009.)

The basis for the adjustment per the respondent's motion, paragraph 2.3, states "[s]ince the amount of child support was arbitrated a new standard for the calculation of child support was adopted by the State." And goes on to state "[t]here is no longer any factual basis to allow father a deviation in his child support obligation."

The motion was heard initially by Commissioner Dicke in Pierce County Superior Court on the family law motions calendar on December 8, 2011. Commissioner Dicke, over objection, ordered that the motion for adjustment be granted. Commissioner Dicke ordered; 1) support to be adjusted according to the mother's worksheets, 2) the termination of the father's residential credit deviation, and 3) the entry of a judgment for father's unpaid share of daycare. She did, however, order that the father's right to present the issue of nanny as daycare be preserved for father to pursue (which he is doing so currently). See Commissioner Dicke's December 12, 2011 Order of Support at CP 183 - 198.

Appellant terminated his counsel, retained new counsel, Mr. Cameron J. Fleury, of McGavick Graves, PS, who prepared and filed a motion for revision of Commissioner Dicke's ruling. Said revision was heard by Pierce County Superior Court Judge Edmund Murphy on February 3, 2012. Judge Murphy denied the motion and upheld all of Commissioner Dicke's prior rulings. Ruling at CP 268 - 269. In his oral ruling, Judge Murphy confirmed that his finding was that the 24 month waiting period to file a motion for adjustment began with the date of the arbitrator's ruling (VRP February 3, 2012, at page 9 - 10 line 23 - 2). It is clear he based his decision allowing a hearing on the motion for adjustment upon the finding that more than 24 months had passed from the date of the arbitrator's decision, NOT the date the Order was entered with the Clerk's

office, or the date of the entry of the last adjustment or modification, as provided in RCW 26.09.170(7)(a). This finding was not made part of the order. However, it was included in the Clerk's Journal Memorandum. CP 266 – 267. Counsel for appellant subsequently brought a motion to clarify the ruling to include this finding, which Judge Murphy denied by ruling the basis for his ruling was clear and that such a clarification was not needed (VRP March 2, 2012, at page 7). Judge Murphy's decision also upheld Commissioner Dicke's denial of the downward deviation for residential credit (VRP February 3, 2012, at page 20 lines 11-15).

Appellant then timely filed his Notice of Appeal. CP 283 – 308.

C. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

RCW 26.09.170(7)(a) is clear. A Motion for Adjustment may only be filed after 24 months from the later of the entry of the current Order of Support. Here it was only 12 months, therefore the Mother's Motion should have been denied below and the matter dismissed in its entirety.

In re Marriage of Scanlon and Witrak, 109 Wn. App. 167, 173, 34 P.3d 877 (2001), review denied, 147 Wn.2d 1026 (2002) is clear, the court does not have the authority, under a Motion for Adjustment, to terminate a deviation. Here, the court below did exactly what is proscribed and should be reversed.

D. ARGUMENT

This section will argue that 1). The 24 month requirement of RCW 26.09.170(7)(a) begins when the order is filed with the clerk's office as opposed to when the arbitration ruling is signed and 2). The court lacks the authority to terminate a deviation under a motion for adjustment.

1. The 24 month period begins when the order is actually filed with the court clerk, and thus Respondent moved for adjustment prematurely.

RCW 26.09.170(7)(a) states that an adjustment can only be filed once "twenty-four months have passed from the date of the entry of the order, or the last adjustment or modification." The "date of the entry of the order" means the date that the order is actually filed with the court because a). this court should interpret RCW 26.09.170(7)(a) by its plain meaning, b). The Court has already determined that the "date of the entry of the order" means the date that the order is filed with the court clerk, and c). given that "date of the entry of the order" is a clear concept, which is critical to many areas of law, and, therefore making it a malleable term would threaten judicial restraint and lead to increased litigation.

a. Washington Courts have stated that RCW 26.09.170 should be interpreted by plain meaning as an unambiguous statute.

Washington Courts have stated that RCW 26.09.170 should be interpreted by its plain meaning, and this should include RCW 26.09.170(7)(a)'s definition of when "24 months" begins. Consider *In re Marriage of Scanlon and Witrak*, 109 Wn. App. 167, 34 P.3d 877 (2001). In *Scanlon*, the Court determined that an "adjustment" action under RCW 26.09.170 was designed to be interpreted more narrowly than a modification action. *Id.* at 173. The *Scanlon* Court held that when a statute is unambiguous, the court will not engage in statutory construction, and instead engage in a plain meaning reading. *Id.* at 172. The court also determined that "the terms in RCW 26.09.170 reflect no ambiguity." *Id.* Understanding this, the Court interpreted RCW 26.09.170 by its plain meaning when determining that an adjustment action was designed to be narrow. *Id.* at 173.

The principle of interpreting statutory language by its plain meaning is in keeping with the Supreme Court's analysis of child support statutes. Consider *In re marriage of Briscoe*, 134 Wn.2d 344, 949 P.2d 1388 (1998) *and*, 971 P.2d 500 (1998). In *Briscoe*, the Court overturned a trial court's impermissible construction of a clear child support statute. *Id.* at 348, 349–50. RCW 26.18.190(2) stated that disability dependency benefits (benefits given directly to the child to compensate for a parent's disability) offset the disabled parent's child support. *Id.* at 348. The trial judge decided to disregard the meaning of this statute, and construct it to disallow the offset where the disabled parent had failed to report the disability payments as income. *Id.* at 347.

The Supreme Court reversed, because the Court looked to the plain meaning of RCW 26.18.190(2). *Id.* at 348. The statute said that the amount given to the child directly "shall be treated for all purposes as if the disabled person [made the payments as child support]." *Id.* The court held that this plain meaning must control, because "courts will not alter the plain meaning of statutory language through construction." *Id.*

This court should analyze RCW 26.09.170(7)(a)'s clause stating that 24 months must have passed "from the date of the entry of the order" by its plain meaning, just as it did with the same statute in *Scanlon*. Like *Scanlon* and *Briscoe*, it is irrelevant how much the trial court's judgment of fairness may differ from the legislature's words. 24 months from the "date of the entry of the order" means exactly what it says, and respondent's move to adjust was thus premature by one year.

The plain meaning of the "date of the entry of the order" is clear in this case: The final Order of Support was entered on the date of September 10, 2010. See clerk's papers at 12-25. Thus 24 months from this date is "24 months from the date of the entry of the

order", which would be September 10, 2012. Respondent's motion for adjustment was filed on September 20, 2011. Thus it is abundantly clear 24 months had not passed since the "date of the entry of the order" before the motion for adjustment was filed. Therefore, the filing of the adjustment action was in complete violation of RCW 26.09.170(7)(a).

b. Courts have interpreted the date that an order or judgment is "entered" as the date when the order is filed with the clerk.

Even beyond the plain meaning of RCW 26.09.170(7)(a), Washington Courts have previously defined the "date of the entry of the order" through its court rules to be the date that the order if filed with the court clerk, as per the plain language of CR 58(b). *Metz v. Sarandos*, 91 Wn. App. 357, 350–60, 957 P.2d 795 (1998); *see also* CR 59(b); *see also* CR 58(b).

CR 59(b) provides that a motion for new trial had to be filed "10 days after the entry of judgment." *Metz*, 91 Wn. App.357 (1998), at 359 - 360; CR 59(b). In *Metz*, the trial court decided that these 10 days should instead begin at the date counsel received the order, because the trial court believed that it would be unfair to do otherwise. *Metz*, 91 Wn. App. 357, at 360. The appellate court properly reversed the trial court, deciding that CR 59(b) clearly states "10 days after the entry of judgment," and this language was too clear to be subject to interpretation. *See id.* (emphasis in case). To find the definition of the entry of judgment, the Court looked to CR 58(b), which states that entry of judgment time is defined as "the *time of delivery to the clerk for filing*" *Id.* (emphasis in case). This meant that the time where the 10 days started was the delivery to the clerk. *Id.* ¹ Thus the judge was wrong to modify or interpret this rule contrary to the text. *Id.*

¹ There was also another issue in that CR 6(b) explicitly prohibits judicial discretion in changing appellate deadlines. However, just as CR 6(b) prevents courts from changing appellate deadlines, the principle that

In this case, RCW 26.09.170(7)(a) clearly states the Respondent must wait 24 months after the "date of the entry of the order" to adjust child support. Here, Commissioner Dicke and Judge Murphy may have believed it would be more fair if the date ran from the date that the arbitration was concluded, because that was when the child support payments began at the amount in the Order, which was eventually entered. However, this ignores the fact that the statute clearly requires 24 months from the "date of the entry of the order" NOT "at the judge's discretion" or "the date of arbitration" or "the date that child support payments begin." Thus the judge abused his discretion in disregarding the statute based on his personal view of fairness, and this court should overturn his ruling on when the "date of the entry of the order" begins and vacate the Orders entered on December 8, 2011. See also Cohen v. Stingl, 51 Wn.2d 866, 868, 322 P.2d 873 (1958), (overturning a judge who changed the date of entry of the judgment from its actual entry on January 11, 1956, to September 26, 1956, so as to maintain an appeal's timeliness).

Other cases likewise support the contention it is inappropriate for a trial judge to change the date of judgment simply because payments began earlier. *State v. Trask*, 98 Wn. App. 690, 990 P.2d 976 (2000). In *Trask*, the State signed a binding agreement with the plaintiff. *Id.* at 692–93. The agreement stated that the State would condemn Plaintiff's property in exchange for an immediate payment to plaintiff of 2.5 million dollars. *Id.* The agreement stated that the plaintiff was entitled to principle plus interest of any amount a jury later valued the property above 2.5 million. *Id.*

In *Trask*, it was relevant to the case whether the interest was pre or post judgment interest. *Id.* at 694. When analyzing whether interest was pre or post judgment interest,

courts must not construct unambiguous statutes prevents the court from changing statutory deadlines. *Compare CR* 6(b) *with Scanlon*, 109 Wn. App. at 172.

the court set the date of the entry of judgment at the date judgment was entered. *See id.* at 693, 698. The Court did not change the date of judgment to the far earlier date of the 2.5 million dollar payment.²

c. Making the "date of the entry of the order" a malleable term will lead to confusion and increased litigation.

Making the "date of the entry of the order" a malleable term would lead to confusion and increased litigation. The concept of the date of the entry of a legal order is meant to be clear and read by its plain meaning. *See Supra* Part 1.a; 1.b. Because this date is so clear, and so fundamental to all litigation, it is used in many legal areas as a starting point from which everything else is measured, (including child support, RCW 26.09.170(7)(a), Eminent Domain, *Trask*, 98 Wn. App.690, at 692–93, and Appellate Procedure, *Metz*, 91 Wn. App. 357, at 359–60).

If this court allows the "date of the entry of the order" concept to become malleable in this case, it could set a precedent where the "date of the entry of the order" is whatever the court thinks is fair. This threatens judicial restraint, resulting in cases like *Cohen*, where a judge decided he would move the date of the entry of judgment forward *six months* to activate a late appeal. *Cohen*, 51 Wn.2d at 868. Beyond the threat to judicial restraint, making such a clear concept malleable could result in more litigation, as lawyers argue over what the "date of the entry of the order" really means. *See Weston v. Emerald City Pizza LLC*, 137 Wn. App. 164, 168, 151 P.3d 1090 (2007) (discussing the importance of avoiding litigation). For example, *Cohen* had to go all the way to the State Supreme Court for resolution. *Cohen*, 51 Wn.2d at 866. This could happen in all the areas

² Trask is somewhat different than the case at bar, as there was a contract referring to a future judgment. *Id.* at 692–93. Still, *Trask* shows that the "date of the entry of the judgment" is tied to when the document is actually filed with the court, not when performance of an obligation occurs. *Id.* at 693, 698.

of law where "the date of entry" concept is found. Thus policy concerns support a plain reading of the "date of the entry of the order."

2. <u>Trial courts may not terminate a previously established deviation in an adjustment proceeding.</u>

Terminating a deviation goes beyond the adjustment proceeding's narrow parameters because it fundamentally changes the child support agreement. Unlike modification actions, child support adjustments are intended to be narrow in their scope. *Scanlon*, 109 Wn. App. 167, at 173. This is because while a modification action requires demonstrating a "significant change in circumstances" adjustment actions only require that the party proposing adjustment meet certain, easier to meet, statutory requirements *Id.* (in this case, a change in the statutory economic tables per RCW 26.09.170(7)(a)(iii)).

Other cases also show that Courts interpret adjustment actions to be minor, rather than major. *In re Marriage of Pape*, 139 Wn.2d 694, 716, 989 P.2d 1120 (1999) (interpreting RCW 26.09.260, a statute which allows the court to make "adjustments" to residential aspects of parenting plans without fulfilling the requirements of a full parenting plan modification); *See also In re Marriage of Hoseth*, 115 Wn. App. 563, 569, 63 P.3d 164 (2003) (doing the same).

Because adjustment actions are much narrower than modification actions, adjustments must not "mak[e] substantial changes and/or additions to the original order of support." *Scanlon*, 109 Wn. App. 167, at 173. Rather, adjustments must instead "conform[] existing provisions of a child support order to the parties' current circumstances. *Id*.

In an adjustment action, the need to "conform" to "existing provisions" prevents parties from relitigating previously decided issues as a matter of collateral estoppel. *In re*

Marriage of Trichak, 72 Wn. App. 21, 23, 863 P.2d 585 (1993). Collateral estoppel bars the relitigation of an issue where "Affirmative answers [are] given to the following questions":

(1) Was the issue decided in the prior adjudication identical with the one presented in the action in question? (2) Was there a final judgment on the merits? (3) Was the party against whom the plea is asserted a party or in privity with a party to the prior adjudication? (4) Will the application of the doctrine not work an injustice on the party against whom the doctrine is to be applied?

Rains v. State, 100 Wn.2d 660, 665, 674 P.2d 165 (1983).

Applying the four collateral estoppel factors to this case reveals that collateral estoppel should have barred the trial judge from terminating the residential deviation in this case. Compare Respondent's motion to terminate the deviation with the prior adjudication of the deviation. The issue is identical (appellant's residential deviation without any substantial change in circumstances), the previous case constituted a final judgment on the merits (granting Appellant his deviation), and the issue here is regarding the same parties and the same parenting plan. Regarding the injustice prong, as the Respondent had a full and fair opportunity to litigate this claim originally, it would not work an injustice to deny respondent a second bite at the apple. See id. at 666. (no injustice where plaintiff had a "full and fair opportunity to litigate his claim in a neutral forum . . . court).

In *Trichak*, appellant attempted to modify her decree of dissolution to remove the previous proceeding's order granting Respondent a deviation for their disabled child's social security income. *Trichak*, 72 Wn. App. 21, at 23–24. ³ The Court determined that

³ In a case where a substantial change of circumstances was shown, the court stated that "collateral estoppel . . . ha[s] no application in cases involving the custody and support of children." *Matter of Marriage of*

collateral estoppel prohibited her from relitigating the issue, because the judge granted respondent the deviation in a previous trial; a trial which she chose not to appeal. *Id.*Critically, the Court determined that she could not relitigate this issue because she did not appeal whether the deviation could be modified because of a substantial change of circumstances, but rather whether the original deviation determination was correct as a matter of law. *Id.* This was considered relitigating the issue, and as such the court prohibited it under collateral estoppel. *Id.*

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