No. 43125-4-II

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

In re the Marriage of

### MATTHEW ANDERSON Respondent

and

TAMRA ANDERSON Appellant

# ON REVIEW FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

PATRICIA NOVOTNY Attorney for Respondent 3418 NE 65th Street, Suite A Seattle, WA 98115 (206) 525-0711

##

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

IV. ARGUMENT IN RESPONSE TO APPEAL.

#### A. THE COURT PROPERLY ADJUSTED CHILD SUPPORT AFTER MORE THAN 24 MONTHS HAD ELAPSED SINCE THE ARBITRATED ORDER OF CHILD SUPPORT.

Washington child support policy has two goals: to insure

support adequate to meet the needs of children commensurate with

the parents' income, resources, and standard of living and to

equitably apportion that support obligation between the parents.

RCW 26.19.001.<sup>4</sup> In other words, the law aims to provide for the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The statute provides:

The legislature intends, in establishing a child support schedule, to insure that child support orders are adequate to meet a child's basic needs and to provide additional child support commensurate with the parents' income, resources, and

children and to do so fairly. To those ends, the Legislature devised a child support statutory scheme, which operates almost mechanically to allocate the child support obligation between parents.

When it revised the child support tables in 2009, the legislature accounted for changes that have occurred over several decades, such as the fact that many families have two working parents and earn combined monthly net incomes in excess of \$7000, with a commensurate increase in meeting the children's basic needs. RCW 26.19.020. That is the case here.

Though signed into law on April 13, 2009, the statute became effective on October 1, 2009. RCW 26.19.020.<sup>5</sup> Under the new table, the basic child support obligation for the two children in this family in September 2010, the date final judgment was entered, would have been \$1145 per child, as compared to the former maximum presumptive amount of \$767 per child. CP 22. Had the court been doing more than incorporating the earlier arbitration order, this higher amount would have applied. *See State v.* 

standard of living. The legislature also intends that the child support obligation should be equitably apportioned between the parents.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> http://apps.leg.wa.gov/billinfo/summary.aspx?bill=1794&year=2009 (act "takes effect")

*Brewster,* 152 Wn. App. 856, 859, 218 P.3d 249 (2009) ("[u]nder common law, pending cases must be decided according to the law in effect 'at the time of the decision'") (internal citation omitted). Instead, the arbitrated order, as incorporated by the court, reflects the tables in effect in May 2009. CP 40-41.

This child support order includes a provision permitting adjustment "[p]er statute." CP 17. The statute permits adjustments after "twenty-four months have passed from the date of the entry of the order or the last adjustment or modification, whichever is later," if there have been changes either "in the income of the parents" or "in the economic table." RCW 26.09.170(7). Both of these changes apply here. However, Matthew complains the court cannot begin counting the 24 months until September 2010, 16 months after the start date of the child support order entered by the arbitrator. This result, he argues, is required by the "plain meaning" of the statute. Br. Appellant, at 9-11. In fact, for many reasons, this result violates both the spirit and letter of Washington law.

First, and most simply, the court made the effective date of the child support order the date of the arbitration order, that is, the court entered the order nunc pro tunc. "A nunc pro tunc order allows a court to date a record reflecting its action back to the time

the action in fact occurred." State v. Hendrickson, 165 Wn.2d 474, 478, 198 P.3d 1029 (2009). To enter an order nunc pro tunc falls squarely within the court's discretion. Id. (nunc pro tunc order reviewed for abuse of discretion). Here, the parties agreed to arbitrate child support, received an order from the arbitrator, and complied with that order beginning on its start date of June 1, 2009. The trial court did nothing on September 20, 2010, except incorporate this order into the final judgment dissolving the marriage. It entered the order of child support nunc pro tunc, that is, "reflecting its action back to the time the action in fact occurred." Hendrickson, 165 Wn.2d at 478; see, also, In re Marriage of Holmes, 128 Wn. App. 727, 741, 117 P.3d 370 (2005) ("[t]he trial court has discretion to make the modification effective on the filing date of the petition, the date of the order, or at any time in between").

The same conclusion is reached by a more scenic route. After urging a "plain meaning" of the statute, Matthew then conflates the term used in the statute (i.e., "order") with the term "judgment." See, e.g., Br. Appellant, at 11-12. He urges this Court not to render "malleable" the term "order" lest it lead to confusion. Br. Appellant, at 13-14. This horse is already out of the barn.

First, an order and a judgment are not necessarily the same thing. Though often used interchangeably, these two terms often have different meanings. For example, CR 58 defines when "judgment" is entered. But not every order is a judgment, as RAP 2.2, with its various species of "decisions," illustrates.<sup>6</sup> Rather, "the court may find that an instrument entitled as a judgment is in fact an order or final order; and an instrument entitled as an order may in fact be a final judgment. [citations omitted.]" Nestegard v. Investment Exchange, 5 Wn. App. 618, 623, 489 P.2d 1142 (1971). The meaning often turns on the context, such as whether the issue is appealability or claim preclusion. See, e.g., Kemmer v. Keiski, 116 Wn. App. 924, 932, 68 P.3d 1138 (2003) (preclusive effects); Wlasiuk v. Whirlpool Corp., 76 Wn. App. 250, 255, 884 P.2d 13 (1994) (appealability). Accordingly, the "court looks to the content of the instrument, not its title, and substance controls over form." Wlasiuk, 76 Wn. App. at 255.

Here, the context is an order of child support entered pursuant to binding arbitration. It bears noting that Washington law encourages settlement of disputes and strongly encourages arbitration. *Hadley v. Cowan,* 60 Wn. App. 433, 438-439, 804 P.2d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> RAP 2.2 in included in the appendix. It describes the following kinds of decisions: "final judgment," "decision," "order," and "disposition."

1271 (1991) (favors settlements between family members); *Davidson v. Hensen,* 135 Wn.2d 112, 118, 954 P.2d 1327 (1998) (strong public policy favoring arbitration). Arbitration is a highly valued mechanism by which parties with disputes may avoid "the formalities, the delay, the expense and vexation of ordinary litigation." *Barnett v. Hicks,* 119 Wn.2d 151, 160, 829 P.2d 1087 (1992). Indeed, the "very purpose of arbitration is to avoid the courts insofar as the resolution of the dispute is concerned." *Id.* Here, the parties used arbitration to avoid a costly trial, reaching a result on child support less than a year after the proceeding commenced. For reasons not in the record, there was a delay of 16 months between arbitration and entry of judgment dissolving the marriage. However, no one disputes that the order entered by the arbitrator took effect on its stated start date of June 1, 2009.

Matthew now seeks to use this delay to evade the order of child support reached through arbitration. This makes no sense. By statute, an order entered under arbitration becomes final within 90 days if no action is taken contesting the award. *MBNA Am. Bank, NA v. Miles,* 140 Wn. App. 511, 514, 164 P.3d 514 (2007). Matthew has never contested the validity of the arbitration order itself. One division of this Court has declared such an order to be

"the equivalent of a final judgment entered by a court." *Dougherty* v. Nationwide Ins. Co., 58 Wn. App. 843, 849, 795 P.2d 166 (1990), review denied, 116 Wn.2d 1009 (1991).<sup>7</sup> Whether or not it is a final judgment, the arbitrator's decision should be treated as an "order" for purposes of the child support statute, since the document is entitled "order," it functioned precisely as an "order," and this treatment best serves the purpose of the child support statute. Under Matthew's reading, he not only gets the benefit of the lower child support table (in effect at arbitration, but not at entry of judgment), he also gets this benefit for an additional 16 months. This violates the legislative judgment, long overdue, that the basic needs of children were being understated by the previous child support tables. In this case, for example, the difference between the basic support obligation under the tables is nearly \$400 per child per month (i.e., \$767 versus \$1165)!

Moreover, the legislature used the term "order," not "judgment" or "final judgment" or even "final order." RCW

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Division Two disagreed with *Dougherty* regarding whether an arbitration award would be a "final judgment" in terms of preclusive effect, and noted this aspect of *Dougherty* appeared to be *obiter dictum. Channel v. Mills,* 61 Wn. App. 295, 299, 810 P.2d 67 (1991); accord Larsen v. Farmers Ins. Co., 80 Wn. App. 259, 265, 909 P.2d 935 (1996). The Supreme Court has acknowledged but not resolved this disagreement. *American States Ins. Co. v. Chun,* 127 Wn.2d 249, 254, 897 P.2d 362 (1995). However, the disagreement is immaterial here, since we are not dealing with whether the arbitrator's order was a "judgment" or a "final judgment" or whether it had preclusive effect or was appealable.

26.09.170(7) ("the date of entry of the order"). By comparison, the term "order" is fairly broad, certainly broad enough to encompass the order of child support entered here. This more expansive term reflects the fact that family law litigation can take awhile and be accomplished in pieces, and reflects the policy of meeting the children's basic needs. If an adjustment is warranted every 24 months, then it should be 24 months between the actual effective dates of child support, not 40 months, as Matthew argues.

Finally, even if it was error for the court to adjust child support less than 24 months after "judgment," it was an error Matthew invited when he conceded that 24 months had passed since the last adjustment. CP 157. "Under the invited error doctrine, a party may not set up an error at trial and then complain of it on appeal." *Casper v. Esteb Enters.*, 119 Wn. App. 759, 771, 82 P.3d 1223 (2004) (internal citations omitted). *See, also, Hollenback v. Shriners Hosps. for Children,* 149 Wn. App. 810, 822, 206 P.3d 337 (2009) (concession of fact at trial waives right to contest). Even Matthew agreed, at the outset, that the time was right to adjust child support. It is not fair, especially to the children, for him to change his mind now.

# B. THE COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE REQUESTED DEVIATION.

Under the original order of child support, Matthew was allowed to pay an amount that deviated from the basic child support obligation based on the arbitrator's findings that the children spend a significant amount of time in his household and the deviation did not result in insufficient funds in the primary residence. CP 15. The factual basis for this decision (i.e., the effects of the residential time on the households' economies) is not part of the court record, nor was it subject to review when the trial court finalized the dissolution. See Boyd v. Davis, 127 Wn.2d 256, 263, 897 P.2d 1239 (1995) (trial court reviews arbitral award only for whether it exhibits on its face "erroneous rule of law or a mistaken application of law"). Consequently, since arbitration, Matthew has paid \$700 (\$350 for each child), instead of the basic support amount of \$873 (calculated according to what was then the top of the support tables). CP 14, 22.

The statute permits, but does not require, a credit for residential time spent in an obligor parent's home. RCW 26.19.075(1)(d). Even where residential time is split equally, this credit remains discretionary with the court. *M.M.G.,* 149 Wn. 2d at 638. Most importantly, a deviation is permitted only where it will not

"result in insufficient funds" in the receiving household and only after the court considers evidence "concerning the increased expenses to a parent making support transfer payments resulting from the significant amount of time spent with that parent and ... the decreased expenses, if any, to the party receiving support ..." RCW 26.19.075(1)(d).<sup>8</sup>

Here, the children spend five out of fourteen days with Matthew, or 35.6%. CP 2, 162. Matthew argued he spends a lot on extracurricular activities while the children are in his care, but those expenses are not related to the children's basic needs, as Tamra observed, but to extracurricular activities like skiing and horseback riding. CP 158, 171. Moreover, there is nothing in the record to suggest, let alone prove, that Tamra's expenses are in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The relevant statutory provision follows:

<sup>(</sup>d) Residential schedule. The court may deviate from the standard calculation if the child spends a significant amount of time with the parent who is obligated to make a support transfer payment. The court may not deviate on that basis if the deviation will result in insufficient funds in the household receiving the support to meet the basic needs of the child or if the child is receiving temporary assistance for needy families. When determining the amount of the deviation, the court shall consider evidence concerning the increased expenses to a parent making support transfer payments resulting from the significant amount of time spent with that parent and shall consider the decreased expenses, if any, to the party receiving the support resulting from the significant amount of time the child spends with the parent making the support transfer payment.

any way reduced as a result of the residential distribution.

Presumably, she must still pay the same for space and beds and towels and electricity and heat, etc.

In any case, Matthew does not dispute the court's factual finding that no basis supports the deviation. Br. Appellant, at 5. Thus, this finding is a verity. *McCleary v. State*, 173 Wn.2d 477, 514, 269 P.3d 227 (2012) ("Unchallenged findings of fact are verities on appeal"). Rather, he contends that the adjustment procedure does not permit the court to deny the deviation he requested because the deviation was included in the original order of support. Br. Appellant, at 14-17. To be sure, the adjustment procedure offers a streamlined alternative to a modification proceeding, allowing parties to conform "existing provisions of a child support order to the parties' current circumstances" without proving a substantial change of circumstances. In re Marriage of Scanlon, 109 Wn. App. 167, 173, 34 P.3d 877 (2001).<sup>9</sup> Indeed, one commentator describes the legislature's enactment of the adjustment procedure as "completely revolution[ing] the standards

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Just for the record, the court's discussion in *Scanlon* regarding the differences between modifications and adjustments is *obiter dictum*, since the father had filed a petition to modify, not a motion for adjustment, and the trial court had modified child support without any findings or apparent factual support for doing so. 109 Wn. App. 174. It was this trial court error that the appellate court reversed.

for obtaining a modification, rendering the substantial change of circumstances standard obsolete in most cases." Radin, *Child Support,* WASHINGTON FAMILY LAW DESKBOOK, §§ 28.7 (2006).

Nevertheless, Matthew argues that in an adjustment proceeding, the court *must* deviate if the preceding order included a deviation, even where no facts support the deviation and even where the deviation would result in insufficient funds for the children while in the obligee parent's household. Br. Appellant, at 14-17. In other words, he claims once a deviation is ordered, it must always be ordered unless a party proves a substantial change of circumstances. However, such a limitation on the court's authority does not comport with the text or the goals of the child support statute, nor is deviation under these circumstances compelled by any procedural requirement.

First, of course, the court has broad discretion in ordering child support. *In re Yeamans,* 117 Wn. App. 593, 601, 72 P.3d 775 (2003). In particular, "[i]t is within the trial court's discretion to grant or deny a deviation and, generally, trial courts are not reversed on such decisions." *In re Marriage of Goodell,* 130 Wn. App. 381, 391, 122 P.3d 929 (2005). Rather, the deviation "is an exception and should only be used where it would be *inequitable* not to do so." *Id.* 

391 (emphasis added). Most importantly, a deviation is not permitted where the children would be deprived of the basic support they need. Here, both of these principles militate against deviation. It would be inequitable to order a deviation where it is not justified by the facts – unfair to the children and to Tamra, in violation of both of the basic goals of child support. RCW 26.19.001.

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